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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF OREGON

PORTLAND DIVISION

NATIVE FISH SOCIETY,

Plaintiff,

v.

NATIONAL MARINE FISHERIES

SERVICE, JOHN BRYSON, Secretary of
Commerce, WDLLIAM STELLE Regional
Administrator, NMFS, OREGON
DEPARTMENT OF FISH & WILDLDJE,
ED BOWLES, Fish Division Director, ODFW,
SCOTT PATTERSON, Fish Propagation
Program Manager, ODFW, TODD ALSBURY,
District Fish Biologist, ODFW, KEN
BOURNE, Hatchery Manager, Sandy Hatchery,
ODFW, BRUCE McINTOSH, Assistant
Fish Division Administrator, ODFW

Defendants.

Case No
CV'12-431- HA

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

[Environmental Matter]

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This is an action for declaratoryand injunctive relief to compel the National

Marine Fisheries Service ("NMFS") and the Oregon Department of Fish & Wildlife and its
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officials in their official capacities ("ODFW") to comply with the Endangered Species Act

("ESA"), 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531^3, and the National Environmental Policy Act ("NEPA"), 42

U.S.C. §§ 4321-61, in authorizing, funding, and managing the Sandy Hatchery ("Hatchery") and

to enjoin NMFS and ODFW from continuing to take wild native stocks of threatened steelhead

(Oncorhynchus mykiss), Chinook (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha), and coho salmon (Oncorhynchus

kisutch) in violation of the ESA.

2. The Sandy River and its tributaries once supported large runs ofwild salmon and

steelhead. Historically, the runs ranged as high as 20,000 winter steelhead, 15,000 coho salmon,

10,000 fall Chinook, and up to 10,000 spring Chinook, with a small run of chum salmon in the

lower river. The fish species that once thrived in the Sandy River basin are listed as threatened

under the ESA. Chum salmon no longer return to the river, and wild native steelhead, coho, and

Chinook today average 5% to 10% oftheir historical levels. Wild native fish in the Sandy River

basin are now overwhelmed by artificially-bred fish produced by the Hatchery.

3. The Hatchery releases over 1.3 million artificially-bred fish into the Sandy River

basin each year. Hatchery releases have significant negative effects on the productivity of wild

native fish by competing with wild fish for food, habitat, and spawning space, preying on wild

fish, diluting the fitness of wild fish when adult hatchery fish stray and spawn with wild fish,

spreading disease to wild fish, and significantly reducing the likelihood of recovery ofwild

native fish populations.

4. The Sandy River basin contains extensive actual or potential habitat for four

species offish listed as threatened under the Endangered Species Act. In the past five years, a

utility has removed two dams from the system, opening about 50 miles of free-flowing river

habitat to spawning fish. Another utility completed and received approval for an approximately
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$100million "HabitatConservation Plan," the first of its kind for salmon in Oregon. Millions of

dollars have been spent or pledged to restoration offish habitat in the basin. There is no dam on

the mainstem Columbia River to block fish leaving the Sandy from the open ocean. The

Hatchery is the last remaining significant threat to restoration of wild steelhead and salmon

stocks in the Sandy River basin.

5. ODFW has violated the ESA by capturing and trapping wild native fish and

releasing artificially-bredhatchery fish into the Sandy River basin in violation of the prohibition

against "take" in Section 9 of the ESA. NMFS also has violated the ESA and the Administrative

Procedure Act ("APA"), 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706, by funding activities and acquisitions which

resulted in unlawful take ofESA-listed fish, failing to prepare an environmental evaluation under

NEPA related to this funding, failing to fulfill its obligations to consult under the ESA on the

effects of such funding, and by failing to approve Hatchery and Genetic Management Plans

("HGMPs") for the harvest supplementation programs operated by the Hatchery.

6. The plaintiff seeks a judgment declaring that ODFW and NMFS are in violation

of the ESA and that NMFS is in violation ofNEPA, and an order requiring ODFW and NMFS to

comply with the ESA and requiring NMFS to comply with NEPA.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. Jurisdiction is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 16 U.S.C. §

1540(g) because this action arises under the laws of the United States, including the Endangered

Species Act, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531^3, the National Environmental Policy Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321-

61, the Administrative Procedure Act ("APA"), 5 U.S.C. §§ 701 et seq., the Declaratory

Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201 et seq., and the Equal Access to Justice Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412
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et seq. An actual, justiciable controversy exists between the parties, and the requested relief is

therefore proper under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202 and 5 U.S.C. § 701-06.

8. As required by the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g), plaintiff has furnished defendants

with written notice of intent to sue more than sixty days ago in a letter postmarked April 13,

2011. A copy of this notice is attached to this complaint as Exhibit 1 and is incorporated herein

by reference. Defendants have not remedied the alleged violations, which are ongoing and likely

to continue.

9. Venue is proper in this Court under 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(3)(A) and 28 U.S.C. §

1391 because the Hatchery is located in this judicial district, all or a substantial part of the events

or omissions giving rise to the claims herein occurred within this judicial district, defendants

reside in this district, plaintiffs principle place of business is in this district, and the public lands

and resources and agency records in question are located in this district.

10. The federal government has waived sovereign immunity in this action pursuant to

5 U.S.C. § 702 and 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g). State agencies and officials are subject to injunctive

orders for violation of the ESA pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g).

PARTIES

11. PlaintiffNATIVE FISH SOCIETY ("NFS") is an Oregon non-profit public

interest organization with more than 500 members and an office in Oregon City, Oregon. NFS is

dedicated to the conservation of native, wild fish in the Pacific Northwest and responsible

stewardship of their habitat. NFS is guided by the best available science to advocate for

historically abundant wild, native fish and promote the stewardship of the habitats that sustain

them. NFS and its members also participate in information gathering and dissemination,

education and public outreach, commenting upon proposed agency actions, and other activities
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relating to NMFS's and ODFW's management of native fish. NFS members regularly visit and

use the rivers and streams in the Sandy Riverbasinfor fishing, swimming, boating, aesthetic,

hiking, birdwatching, and scientific and biological studypurposes. NFS bringsthis actionon

behalf of itself and its members.

12. NMFS's and ODFW's failures or refusal to comply with federal laws and

regulations directly affects NFS and its members' interests in the conservation of wild fish in the

Sandy River basin. The interests ofNFS and its members have been and will continue to be

injuredand harmedby NMFS's and ODFW's actions and/or inactions as complained of herein.

Unless the relief prayed for herein is granted, NFS and its members will continue to suffer on

going and irreparable harm and injury to their interests.

13. Defendant NATIONAL MARINE FISHERIES SERVICE is a federal agency

within the United States Department of Commerce, which has the primary responsibility for

implementing the ESA for anadromous fish species. NMFS has approved funding for the

Hatchery under the Mitchell Act and failed to approve the Hatchery and Genetic Management

Plans for the Sandy Hatchery in this case.

14. Defendant JOHN BRYSON is sued solely in his official capacity as Secretary of

the Department of Commerce.

15. Defendant WILLIAM STELLE is sued solely in his official capacity as Regional

Administrator of the National Marine Fisheries Service, Northwest Regional Office. The

Regional Administrator is one of the officials legally responsible for administering the ESA and

has delegated authority for developing regulations and guidelines for carrying out ESA

responsibilities.
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16. Defendant OREGON DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE is an agency

or instrumentality of the State of Oregon and is responsible for managing fish within the state

and operating the Hatchery in compliance with state and with federal laws and regulations,

including the ESA.

17. Defendant ED BOWLES is sued solely in his official capacity as Fish Division

Director for ODFW.

18. Defendant SCOTT PATTERSON is sued solely in his official capacity as Fish

Propagation Program Manager for ODFW.

19. Defendant TODD ALSBURY is sued solely in his official capacity as District

Fisheries Biologist for ODFW.

20. Defendant KEN BOURNE is sued solely in his official capacity as Hatchery

Manager of the Sandy Hatchery for ODFW.

21. Defendant BRUCE McINTOSH is sued solely in his official capacity as Assistant

Fish Division Administrator for ODFW.

LEGAL BACKGROUND

Endangered Species Act

22. Congress enacted the Endangered Species Act to provide a "means whereby the

ecosystems upon which endangered species and threatened species depend may be conserved ...

[and] a program for the conservation of such endangered species and threatened species." 16

U.S.C. § 1531(b). "Conserve" means to use all methods and procedures necessary to bring

threatened and endangered species to a point where the protections afforded by the statute are no

longer necessary. 16 U.S.C. § 1532(3).
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23. The ESA requires the Secretary of Interior or Commerce ("Secretary") to list

species either as threatened or endangered based on the present or threatened destruction,

modification or curtailment ofa species' habitat or range, as well as other factors. 16 U.S.C. §

1533(a)(1). An endangered species is one "in danger ofextinction throughout all or a significant

portion of its range." 16 U.S.C. § 1532(6). A threatened species is one that is "likely to become

an endangered species within the foreseeable future." 16 U.S.C. § 1532(20).

24. Concurrently with listing a species, Section 4 of the ESA requires the Secretary to

designate the species' "critical habitat" and prepare a recovery plan. 16 U.S.C. §§ 1533(a)(3) and

(f). Critical habitat is the area that contains the physical or biological features essential to the

"conservation" of the species and which may require special protection or management

considerations. 16 U.S.C. § 1532(5)(A). Critical habitat is the habitat essential for the recovery

of the species.

25. Section 9 of the ESA makes it unlawful for any person to "take" a threatened or

endangered species. 16 U.S.C. § 1538(a)(1); 50 C.F.R. § 17.31; 50 C.F.R. § 223.203(a). "Take"

is defined broadly under the ESA and its regulations to include harassing, harming, wounding,

killing, trapping, capturing or collecting a listed species either directly or by degrading its habitat

sufficiently to impair essential behavior patterns. 16 U.S.C. § 1532(19). Section 9 prohibits a

state or federal agency or official from causing take by authorizing an action which results in

take.

26. "Harass" in the definition of "take" means an intentional or negligent act or

omission which creates the likelihood of injury to wildlife by annoying it to such an extent as to

significantly disrupt normal behavioral patterns which include, but are not limited to, breeding,

feeding, or sheltering. 50 C.F.R. § 17.3.
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27. "Harm" in the definition of "take" means an act which actually kills or injures

wildlife, and including significant habitat modification or degradation where it actually kills or

injureswildlifeby significantly impairing essential behavioral patterns, includingbreeding,

feeding or sheltering. 50 C.F.R. § 17.3; 50 C.F.R § 222.102.

28. Except as provided by Section 4(d) of the ESA and described in 70 Fed. Reg.

37,157, 37,194-95 (June 28,2005) and 71 Fed. Reg. 833, 857-58 (Jan. 5,2006), the prohibition

against take of members of the species in Section 9 of the ESA applies only to wild native fish—

"fish with an intact adipose fin"—that are part of the threatened Lower Columbia River

steelhead, Lower Columbia River Chinook, and Lower Columbia River coho species. 50 C.F.R.

223.203(a). All fish bred by the Hatchery are adipose-fin-clipped before release into the natural

environment to allow them to be distinguished from wild native fish.

29. Under Section 7 of the ESA, all federal agencies must "insure that any action

authorized, funded, or carried out by such agency ... is not likely to jeopardize the continued

existence of any endangered species or threatened species or result in the adverse modification of

habitat of such species." 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2).

30. To fulfill its Section 7(a)(2) mandate, if a species may be present, an action

agency must prepare a biological assessment ("BA") to identify any listed species likely to be

affected by an action. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(c)(1). Through BAs, action agencies evaluate potential

effects and determine whether a species is "likely to be adversely affected" or "not likely to be

adversely affected" by the action. 50 C.F.R. § 402.12.

31. If a proposed action "may affect" a listed species or its critical habitat, the action

agency must consult with either NMFS or FWS, depending on which agency has jurisdiction

over the species at issue. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2); 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(a). For actions which are
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likely to adversely affect a listed species, the action agency must seek "formal" consultation, 50

C.F.R. § 402.14(a), while for actions not likely to affect a listed species the agency may seek

"informal" consultation, 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(b).

32. NMFS is responsible for consultations regarding anadromous fish species such as

steelhead. See 50 C.F.R. § 402.01.

33. During consultation, NMFS must review all relevant information, evaluate the

current status of the species or its critical habitat, and evaluate the effects and cumulative effects

of the proposed action on the listed species and its critical habitat. 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(g)(l)-(3).

Throughout its analysis, the consulting agency must utilize the "best scientific and commercial

data available." 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2); 50 C.F.R. §402.14(d).

34. At the completion of formal consultation, NMFS issues a biological opinion

("BiOp"). The BiOp determines whether the agency action is likely to jeopardize the species or

adversely modify the species' critical habitat. Regulations implementing Section 7 of the ESA

define "jeopardize the continued existence of as "to engage in an action that reasonably would

be expected, directly or indirectly, to reduce appreciably the likelihood of both the survival and

recovery of a listed species in the wild by reducing the reproduction, numbers, or distribution of

that species." 50 C.F.R. § 402.02. If the action's impact on a species' habitat threatens either the

recovery or survival of the species, the BiOp must conclude that the action adversely modifies

critical habitat.

35. IfNMFS determines that jeopardy is not likely, or that reasonable and prudent

alternatives to the proposed action will avoid jeopardy, and that any taking of listed species

incidental to the proposed action will not violate section 7(a)(2) of the ESA, NMFS must include

an incidental take statement ("ITS") with the BiOp. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(4); 50 C.F.R. §
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402.14(g)(7). Only if the terms and conditions of the ITS are followed is the agency exempted

from Section 9's take prohibition. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(o)(2); 50 C.F.R.§ 402(i)(5). The authorized

take must be incidental to, and not the purpose of, carrying out an otherwise lawful activity.

36. The ITS (1) specifies the amount or extent of the impact on the species of any

incidental taking, (2) specifies Reasonable and Prudent Measures to minimize such impact, and

(3) sets forth the Terms and Conditions that must be complied with to implement the Reasonable

and Prudent Measures. 50 C.F.R. § 402.14(i)(l)(i), (ii), (iv).

37. If during the course of the action the amount or extent of incidental taking

specified in the ITS is exceeded, or new information reveals effects of the action that may affect

listed species or critical habitat in a manner or to an extent not previously considered, the action

agency must immediately reinitiate formal consultation. 50 C.F.R. §§ 402.14(i)(4), 402.16(a)-(b)

38. During consultation, the action agency may not make any irreversible or

irretrievable commitments of resources that would have the effect of foreclosing the formulation

or implementation of any reasonable and prudent alternative measures. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(d).

39. Section 7(a)(2) ofthe ESA includes, in addition to the consultation obligations, a

substantive and on-going duty requiring federal agencies to insure that any action they authorize,

fund, or carry out is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of a listed species or result in

the destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat.

40. Section 10 of the ESA provides a mechanism by which NMFS may issue permits

authorizing the take of threatened or endangered species associated with activities intended to

enhance the propagation or survival of the affected species. 16 U.S.C. § 1539(a)(1)(A). Such

permits are issued upon consideration of several factors, including the effects the activity would

have on wild populations and whether the proposed activity would conflict with other programs
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intended to enhance the survival probabilities of the species. 50 C.F.R. § 17.22(a)(2); 50 C.F.R. §

222.308(c).

41. NMFS has promulgated regulations under Section 4(d) of the ESA that limit the

prohibition against take of wild native members of anadromous fish species listed as threatened

under the ESA. 50 C.F.R. § 223.203(b). One limit exemptsartificialpropagationprogramsfrom

the take prohibition, providedthat NMFS has approved a Hatcheryand GeneticManagement

Plan as meetingthe regulatory criteria. 50 C.F.R. § 223.203(b)(5). In approvingan HGMP under

Section 4(d), NMFS must not only protect threatened species from extinction but must also

determine whether the HGMP will provide for the conservation and recovery of the species to

the point where ESA protection is no longer necessary.

42. The Section 4 regulations related to artificial propagation programs require NMFS

to provide written concurrence of a state hatchery HGMP, and publish notification in the Federal

Register announcing the HGMP's availability for public review and comment prior to final

approval of the HGMP. 50 C.F.R. § 223.203(b)(5)(i)(J)and (iv). NMFS must also prepare a

biological opinion regarding its concurrence with the state HGMP pursuant to ESA Section 7.

43. Section 10 of the ESA also allows for the issuance of incidental take permits

("ITPs") authorizingthe take of threatened or endangered species incidental to projects

determined by NMFS not to appreciably reduce the likelihood of survival and recovery of the

protected species. 16 U.S.C. § 1539(a)(2)(B)(iv); 50 C.F.R. § 222.307(c)(2)(iii); 50 C.F.R. §

17(b)(2)(i)(D). Parties seeking such a permit are required to develop a habitat conservation plan

that will minimize adverse effects to ESA-listed species. 16 U.S.C. § 1539(a)(2)(A); 50 C.F.R. §

17.22(b)(l)(iii); 50 C.F.R. § 222.307(b)(5).
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National Environmental Policy Act

44. Congress enacted NEPA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321-4370(d), in 1969, directing all

federal agencies to assess the environmental impact ofproposed actions that significantly affect

the quality of the environment. 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C). NEPA's disclosure goals are two-fold:

(1) to insure that the agency has carefully and fully contemplated the environmental effects of its

action, and (2) to insure that the public has sufficient information to challenge the agency's

action.

45. A federal agency is required under NEPA to prepare an environmental impact

statement ("EIS") for any "major federal actions significantly affecting the quality of the human

environment." 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C). The EIS must describe the environmental impact of the

proposed action, any adverse environmental effects which cannot be avoided should the proposal

be implemented, alternatives to the proposed action, the relationship between local short-term

uses of man's environment and the maintenance and enhancement of long-term productivity, and

any irreversible and irretrievable commitments of resources which would be involved in the

proposed action should it be implemented.

46. The Council on Environmental Quality ("CEQ") promulgated uniform regulations

to implement NEPA that are binding on all federal agencies. 42 U.S.C. § 4342; 40 C.F.R. §§

1500 et seq.

47. The regulations implementing NEPA require the federal agency to disclose and

analyze the environmental effects of the proposed action. 40 C.F.R. § 1500.1(b). Specifically, the

regulation explains that "NEPA procedures must insure that environmental information is

available to public officials and citizens before decisions are made and before actions are taken.
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The information must be of high quality. Accurate scientific analysis, expert agency comments,

and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA." 40 C.F.R. § 1500.1(b).

48. In order to adequately assess the environmental impacts of a proposed action, the

federal agency must assess three types ofactions: (1) connected actions; (2) cumulative actions;

and 3) similar actions. 40 C.F.R. § 1508.25.

49. Connected actions are actions that "are closely related and therefore should be

discussed in the same impact statement. Actions are connected if they: (i) Automatically trigger

other actions which may require environmental impact statements; (ii) Cannot or will not

proceed unless other actions are taken previously or simultaneously; (iii) Are interdependent

parts of a larger action and depend on the larger action for their justification." 40 C.F.R. §

1508.25.

50. Cumulative actions are those actions that "when viewed with other proposed

actions have cumulatively significant impacts and should therefore be discussed in the same

impact statement." 40 C.F.R. § 1508.25.

51. Similar actions are those actions that "when viewed with other reasonably

foreseeable or proposed agency actions, have similarities that provide a basis for evaluating their

environmental consequences together, such as common timing or geography. An agency may

wish to analyze these actions in the same impact statement. It should do so when the best way to

assess adequately the combined impacts of similar actions or reasonable alternatives to such

actions is to treat them in a single impact statement." 40 C.F.R. § 1508.25.

52. In addition to analyzing three types of actions, the NEPA regulations require the

agency to assess three types ofenvironmental effects: (1) direct effects; (2) indirect effects; and

(3) cumulative effects. 40 C.F.R. § 1502.25(c).
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53. Direct effects are those effects that "are caused by the action and occur at the

same time and place." 40 C.F.R. § 1508.8(a).

54. Indirect effects are effects that "which are caused by the action and are later in

time or farther removed in distance, but are still reasonably foreseeable." 40 C.F.R. § 1508.8(b).

55. Cumulative effects are the impacts "on the environment which results from the

incremental impact of the action when added to other past, present, and reasonably foreseeable

future actions regardless of what agency (federal or non-federal) or person undertakes such other

actions. Cumulative impacts can result from individually minor but collectively significant

actions taking place over a period of time." 40 C.F.R. § 1508.7.

56. An agency may prepare an environmental assessment ("EA") to evaluate whether

an EIS is required. 40 C.F.R. §§ 1501.3-1501.4. An agency may issue a finding of no significant

impact, or "FONSI," only where the proposed action will not have a significant effect on the

human environment and an EIS is therefore not required. 40 C.F.R. § 1508.13.

57. In preparing an EA or EIS, NEPA requires the agency to "study, develop and

describe appropriate alternatives to recommended courses ofaction in any proposal which

involves unresolved conflicts concerning alternative uses ofavailable resources." 42 U.S.C. §

102(2)(E).

58. Alternatives to the agency's proposed action are "the heart of the environmental

impact statement," and the agency must "rigorously explore and objectively evaluate all

reasonable alternatives" including "reasonable alternatives not within the jurisdiction of the lead

agency." 40 C.F.R. §§ 1502.14(a), (c). This requirement applies to preparation ofan EA.

59. An agency is required to supplement an EA or EIS that has been completed if the

agency subsequently makes substantial changes in the proposed action that are relevant to
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environmental concerns or if there are significant new circumstances or information relevant to

environmental concerns and bearing on the proposed action or its impacts. 40 C.F.R. § 1502.9(c).

60. On August 6,2010, NMFS announced the availability ofa draft EIS for all

hatcheries funded under the Mitchell Act. A final EIS has not been completed or adopted.

Administrative Procedure Act

61. The APA authorizes judicial review ofactions taken by federal agencies. 5 U.S.C.

§ 702.

62. The APA provides that the reviewing Court shall compel agency action

unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed and hold unlawful and set aside agency action,

findings, and conclusions found to be arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise

not in accordance with law. 5 U.S.C. §§ 706(1)-(2)(A).

Mitchell Act

63. The Mitchell Act authorizes and directs the Secretary of the Interior broadly to

"direct and facilitate conservation of the fishery resources." 16 U.S.C. § 756. The Mitchell Act

authorizes NMFS to fund federal and state-run hatchery operations in the Columbia River basin.

16 U.S.C. §§755-57.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

64. The Sandy River winds 55 miles from its headwaters on the west side of Mount

Hood to the mainstem of the Columbia River at the western edge of the Columbia River Gorge

National Scenic Area, 120 river miles from the Pacific Ocean. Its watershed covers an area of

about 508 square miles. Major tributaries include the Zigzag River, Still Creek and Salmon River

in the upper basin, and the Bull Run River, Gordon Creek and Beaver Creek in the lower basin.
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65. Historically, the cold, pristine waters of this glacier-fed system sustained

enormous populations of wild native steelheadand salmon. Runs of native fish to the Sandy

River basin ranged as high as 15,000 coho, 20,000 winter steelhead, 10,000 fall Chinook and

8,000 to 10,000 spring Chinook. The numbers of wild native fish in this system have declined

significantly. Wild coho now average approximately 860 spawners annually, wild winter

steelhead average approximately975 spawners annually, and wild spring Chinook now average

approximately 1,200 spawners annually. The runs offish returning to the Sandy River basin are

now dominated by artificially-bred fish produced by the Hatchery.

66. The ODFW established a recovery goal of 4,900 wild winter steelhead in its 1998

regulations; reduced the recovery goal to 1,730 in its 2001 regulations; and reduced the recovery

goal to 1,519 in its 2010 Lower Columbia River Salmon and Steelhead Conservation and

Recovery Plan. The actual number ofwild winter steelhead in the Sandy River basin remains far

below this recovery goal. The actual number of wild Chinook and coho in the Sandy River basin

also remain far below the recovery goals in the 2010 Lower Columbia River Salmon and

Steelhead Conservation and Recovery Plan.

67. In 1998-1999, and again in 2005-2006, NMFS designated Lower Columbia River

Chinook, coho and chum Evolutionarily Significant Unit ("ESUs") and the Lower Columbia

River steelhead Distinct Population Segment ("DPS") as threatened with extinction under the

ESA. 63 Fed. Reg. 13,347 (Mar. 19,1998); 64 Fed. Reg. 14,308 (Mar. 24,1999); 70 Fed. Reg.

37,160 (June 28, 2005); 71 Fed. Reg. 834 (Jan. 5,2006). Many streams in the Sandy River basin

(including the Sandy River, Salmon River, Zigzag River, and Still Creek) have been designated

as critical habitat for Lower Columbia River Chinook and/or steelhead. 70 Fed. Reg. 52,630
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(Sept. 2,2005). These streams currently are beingevaluated for potential designation as critical

habitat for Lower Columbia River coho.

68. Regulations adopted by NMFS in 2000 and modified in 2005 under ESA Section

4 extend the take prohibition in Section 9 of the ESA to wild native members of these threatened

species. 65 Fed. Reg. 42,421 (July 10,2000); 70 Fed. Reg. 37,160 (June 28,2005). These

protections applyto natural and hatchery fish with an intactadipose fin, but not to listedhatchery

fish that havehad their adipose fin removed prior to release intothe wild. In its 2005 regulation,

NMFS recognized that adipose-fin-clippedhatchery stocks may be of limited or uncertain

conservation value.

69. In 2007 and 2008, Portland General Electric decommissioned and removed the

Marmot and Little Sandy Dams from the Sandy and Little Sandy Rivers. Removal of these dams

opened approximately50 miles of free-flowing access to spawning habitat for steelhead and

salmon upstream ofthese previous migration barriers. ODFW had designated the area above

Marmot Dam as a Wild Fish Sanctuary prior to the dam's removal. The City ofPortland

completed a Habitat Conservation Plan in 2008, and approved by NMFS, which dedicates $93

million to improve fish habitat and watershed conditions in the Sandy River basin.

70. The Hatchery is located along Cedar Creek, a tributary of the Sandy River, 1.5

miles north of Sandy, Oregon at an elevation ofapproximately 500 feet above sea level. The

Hatchery began operation in 1951 as a state-funded facility. In 1959, the Hatchery became part

of the Columbia River Fisheries Development Program, funded under the federal Mitchell Act to

enhance declining fish runs in the Columbia River Basin. ODFW operates the Hatchery.

71. The Hatchery is currently used for production or release ofartificially-bred winter

steelhead, summer steelhead, spring Chinook, and coho. The Hatchery receives artificially-bred

COMPLAINT

-17-

Case 3:12-cv-00431-HA    Document 1    Filed 03/09/12    Page 17 of 27    Page ID#: 17



fish from the Clackamas, Bonneville, and Oak Springs hatcheries for acclimation and release

from the Hatchery or elsewhere in the Sandy River basin. The Hatchery releases over 1.3 million

artificially-bred fish into the Sandy River basin each year as smolts, approximately six to twelve

months old. All fish released are adipose-fin-clipped to distinguish them from wild native fish.

72. The Hatchery traps and captures hatchery-bred and wild fish at various places in

the Sandy River Basin. In 2008,2009 and 2010, the Hatchery trapped and collected wild native

winter steelhead, coho and spring Chinook to be used for broodstock. In 2011, the Hatchery

deployed artificial weirs to prevent or otherwise inhibit the passage offish to their spawning

grounds on several tributaries of the Sandy River. The weirs trapped wild fish and caused wild

and hatchery fish to congregate and spawn prematurely below the weirs.

73. The ODFW Hatchery Management Policy defines hatchery programs as either

harvest or conservation programs. Harvest programs operate to enhance or maintain fisheries

without impairing naturally reproducing populations. Conservation programs operate to maintain

or increase the number of naturally produced fish without reducing the productivity of naturally

reproducing populations. Programs at the Hatchery are not conservation programs, but rather are

harvest programs, used to mitigate loss of fishing and harvest opportunities due to loss of habitat

and migration blockage resulting from the Columbia Basin hydropower system, and to augment

fishing and harvest opportunities on the Sandy River. The goal of the Hatchery programs is to

produce artificially-bred fish that will contribute to commercial and sport fisheries in the

Columbia River Basin and Sandy River.

74. The best available science demonstrates that artificially-bred fish from hatcheries

harm wild native fish in a variety of ways, whether they use local or non-native stocks. Harvest

supplementation programs, such as those at the Hatchery, have significant negative effects on the
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productivity of wild populations in the rivers where artificially-bred fish produced from the

hatchery are released, and may prevent the recovery of self-sustaining species. Hatchery-bred

fish occupy habitat needed for wild fish to survive and return to spawn, out-compete wild fish for

food, attract predators, prey on smaller wild fish (both of the same species and of other species),

transmit diseases, compete for spawning grounds and interbreed with wild fish, which reduces

the genetic fitness of the wild fish for generations afterwards.

75. Scientific studies have demonstrated that artificially-bred fish from hatcheries

tend to be poorly adapted to life in a river and are subject to high predation and mortality.

Hatchery fish are less successful at feeding in the wild, and are less wary ofpredators than wild

fish, have altered growth rates, and are weaker swimmers. Hatcheries do not produce salmonids

with the same evolutionary potential as those spawned and reared in the wild. A perpetual

metapopulation containing wild and hatchery salmonid populations will not allow recovery of

listed salmonids under the ESA. Fish removed from nature to propagate in hatcheries always

constitute a loss to the evolutionarily significant natural population.

76. In no instance has a salmon hatchery restored a depressed wild population to the

point where it is self-sustaining. There is little or no evidence that hatcheries have been effective

over the long term at assisting in the recovery ofwild populations.

77. Harvest supplementation programs that release local or non-native artificially-

bred fish threaten the reproductive fitness and genetic diversity of the local wild populations.

Such programs can cause returning adults to have lower reproductive fitness—less ability to

reproduce naturally over generations—than the original wild native adults. Studies have

demonstrated that supplementation of Chinook salmon and steelhead results in such reduced

reproductive fitness. Studies have also shown that both normative stocks and local stocks of
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steelhead produced in hatcheries lower their genetic adaptation through domestication selection,

resulting in fish better suited for hatchery production than wild survival in rivers and oceans.

Deleterious impacts to the fitness and geneticsofwild stocks from supplementation programs

using local wild stocks are particularly well-established for steelhead.

78. Releasing hatchery fish also harms wild fish by increasing competition for

resources, such as food sources and rearing and spawning space. Released hatchery fish can also

prey on native wild fish, expose them to diseases, and support unnaturally large predator

populations, all of which reduce the survival of wild fish.

79. Releasing artificially-bredfish from hatcheries also harms wild fish by

significantly modifying and degrading habitat or preventing wild fish from fully utilizing

existing habitat. Strays—hatchery fish that spawn naturally in a location different from the

location intended when the fish was stocked—account for 75% to 100% ofthe spring Chinook

spawning in the upper Sandy River basin. Scientific studies have shown that a 5% or smaller

hatchery-origin stray rate is necessary to prevent harm to wild fish from diluting the fitness of

wild fish when adult hatchery fish stray and spawn with wild fish. ODFW has no data regarding

the rates at which hatchery-bred steelhead and coho are straying into wild fish spawning grounds

since the Marmot Dam and Little Sandy Dams were removed in 2007 and 2008.

80. The Hatchery's four programs cause take of threatened Lower Columbia River

steelhead, Lower Columbia River Chinook, and Lower Columbia River Coho by the capture of

these protected fish for use as broodstock, trapping and disruption of spawning behavior at weirs,

by reducing genetic and reproductive fitness, increasing competition for resources, inter-species

and intra-species predation on wild fish, and exposing wild fish to disease. The Hatchery's
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programs will prevent or inhibit the recoveryof wild native steelheadand salmon in the Sandy

River basin.

81. In each of the last four years, NMFS has authorized funding for operations and

equipmentpurchases at the Hatchery under the Mitchell Act, including funding the production of

fish used in the Hatchery's programand raised at the Clackamas, Bonneville, and Oak Springs

hatcheries.NMFS approved these authorizations without conducting environmental review

pursuant to NEPA and without complying with its statutory and regulatory obligations under the

ESA. NMFS issued a draft EIS related to funding of Columbia River basin hatchery operations

in August 2010, but has never issued a final EIS for such funding. Equipment, facilities, and

artificially-bred fish purchased or raised using Mitchell Act funds continue to be used for

Hatchery operations, representing an ongoing and irretrievable commitment of resources.

NMFS's funding ofactivities related to the Hatchery have caused and are currently causing harm

to listed coho, steelhead, and Chinook, impeding the recovery of these species.

82. ODFW submitted draft HGMPs to NMFS for its winter steelhead program in

March 2002, for its summer steelhead program in July 2006, for its coho program in September

2006, and for its spring Chinook program in October 2008. NMFS took no action on these draft

HGMPs and never released them for public comment.

83. In June 2011, ODFW updated and resubmitted the HGMPs for its four programs

at the Hatchery to NMFS for review. NMFS has taken no action on these draft HGMPs and has

never released them for public comment. The draft HGMPs do not provide for the conservation

and recovery of the species affected by these programs.
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84. NMFS has never completed an environmental analysis under NEPA of the effects

of its funding of the Hatchery's operations andacquisitions under the Mitchell Actor prepared a

biological assessment or biological opinion to evaluate the effects of that funding underthe ESA.

85. ODFW has never obtained an incidental take permit under Section 10 of the ESA

or hadan HGMP approved covering the take of wild native fish by the programs at the Hatchery.

86. NMFS has not issued a BiOp that includes an ITS, nor incidental take permits

underSection 10of the ESA, nor approved any HGMP covering take of wild nativefish by the

programs at the Hatchery.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

VIOLATION OF ENDANGERED SPECDES ACT

ODFW take of threatened species in violation of ESA Section 9

87. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs.

88. ESA Section 9 prohibits ODFW from taking listed steelhead or salmon by directly

harassing, harming, killing, trapping, or capturing individual salmonids or by significantly

modifying or degrading salmonidhabitat to the point that salmonid breeding, spawning, rearing,

migrating, feeding or sheltering are significantly impaired. 16 U.S.C. § 1538(a)(1)(B); 50 C.F.R.

§ 223.203(a); id. § 223.102(a); id. § 222.102.

89. ODFW has violated and continues to violate Section 9 of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. §

1538, and the ESA's implementing regulations, in multiple respects by operations of the Sandy

Hatchery which cause take of listed steelhead and salmon, including but not limited to:

a. Releasing artificially-bred hatchery fish in the Sandy River basin which harass or

harm wild native listed fish by reducing genetic and reproductive fitness,

increasing competition for resources, causing inter-species and intra-species

predation that kills or injures wild fish, and exposing wild fish to disease, and the
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presenceof which significantly modifiesand degradesthe habitat ofwild native

fish;

b. Capturing, trapping, and killing of wild native steelhead, Chinook and coho for

use as broodstock; and

c. Capturing and trapping wild native steelhead, Chinook and coho at artificial

barriers in the Sandy Riverbasin, and disrupting the spawning behavior of wild

native fish by use of these barriers, resulting in harassmentor harm to wild fish.

90. Without the protectionprovidedby an ITS, ITP, or approvedHGMP, ODFW's

takeof wildnative listed steelhead and salmon violates Section 9 of the ESA, 16U.S.C. § 1538.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELDXF

VIOLATION OF ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT

NMFS take of threatened species in violation of ESA Section 9

91. Plaintiffrealleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs.

92. ESA Section 9 prohibits NMFS from authorizing or funding actions that result in

the takingof listed steelhead or salmon by directly killing individual salmonids or by

significantly modifying or degrading salmonid habitat to the pointthat salmonid breeding,

spawning, rearing, migrating, feeding or shelteringare significantly impaired. 16 U.S.C. §

1538(a)(1)(B); 50 C.F.R. § 223.203(a); id. § 223.102(a); id. § 222.102.

93. NMFS has funded activities and acquisitions related to the Hatchery which have

caused and continue to cause take ofwild native fish.

94. Without the protection provided by an ITS, ITP, or approved HGMP, NMFS's

funding ofactivities that take wild native listed steelhead and salmon violates Section 9 of the

ESA, 16 U.S.C. §1538.
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THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

VIOLATION OF ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT

AND ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT

NMFS failure to consult on Mitchell Act funding in violation of ESA Section 7

95. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs.

96. NMFS is required as both an actionagency and consulting agency to engage in

consultation to insure that its funding of activities andacquisitions related to the Hatchery under

the Mitchell Act is not likelyto jeopardizethe continued existence of a listedspecies or result in

the destruction or adverse modification ofcritical habitat. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2).

97. NMFS has violated Section 7 of the ESAand its implementing regulations by not

engagingin consultation, and not preparinga biological assessmentor biologicalopinion, for its

funding ofactivities and acquisitions related to the Hatchery under the Mitchell Act.

98. In the alternative, NMFS's failure to complywith the ESA when making

decisions regarding funding ofactivities and acquisitions related to the Hatchery under the

Mitchell Act violates the APA because the funding decisions are final agency actions that are

arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwisenot in accordance with law. 5 U.S.C. §§

706(2)(A).

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

VIOLATION OF ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT

AND ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT

NMFS failure to approve Hatchery and Genetic Management Plans

99. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs.

100. Under regulations implementing Section 4 of the ESA, NMFS is required to

review and issue decisions on HGMPs for harvest supplementation programs. 50 CFR

223.203(b)(5).
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101. ODFW submitted HGMPs for its four programs for review between 2002 and

2008, and submitted revised HGMPs in June 2011.NMFS has not issued the HGMPs for public

comment or made any decision on the HGMPs.

102. NMFS's failure to issue decisionson the HGMPsviolates the ESA implementing

regulations and is actionable under Section 11(g) of the ESA.

103. In the alternative, NMFS's failure to issue decisions on the HGMPs violates the

APA because it is an action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed. 5 U.S.C. §§ 706(1).

FDJTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

VIOLATION OF NATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY ACT

NMFS failure to conduct environmental analysis of Mitchell Act funding decisions

104. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs.

105. NEPA requires that federal agencies undertake a thorough and public analysis of

the environmental consequences ofproposed federal actions. An agency must prepare an EIS for

all major federal actions significantly affecting "the quality of the human environment." 42

U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C). Decisions to fund state or private activities are major federal actions.

106. NMFS has never prepared an EA, EIS, FONSI, or otherwise complied with

NEPA in making its decisions to fund activities and acquisitions related to the Hatchery under

the Mitchell Act.

107. NMFS has violated NEPA by failing to prepare either an EA or an EIS for its

decisions to fund activities and acquisitions related to the Hatchery, or to issue a FONSI.

//

//

//

II

COMPLAINT

-25-

Case 3:12-cv-00431-HA    Document 1    Filed 03/09/12    Page 25 of 27    Page ID#: 25



PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffrespectfully requests that the Courtgrant the following relief:

A. Issue a declaratory judgment that ODFW is in violation of Section 9 of the ESA

for causing take of threatened Lower Columbia River steelhead, Lower Columbia River

Chinook, and Lower Columbia Rivercohothrough the activities of the Hatchery;

B. Issue a declaratory judgment that NMFS is in violation of Section 9 of the ESA

for causing take of threatened Lower Columbia River steelhead, Lower Columbia River

Chinook, and Lower ColumbiaRiver coho by funding and/or authorizing the activitiesof the

Hatchery;

C. Issue a declaratory judgment that NMFS is in violation of Section 7 of the ESA

for funding and/or authorizing the activities or acquisitions of the Hatchery without insuring that

such actions are not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of threatened Lower Columbia

River steelhead, Lower Columbia River Chinook, and Lower Columbia River coho or result in

the destructionor adverse modification ofcritical habitat designated for threatened Lower

Columbia River steelhead and Lower Columbia River Chinook;

D. Issue a declaratoryjudgment that NMFS is in violation of the regulations enacted

under Section 4 of the ESA by failing to issue decisions on the HGMPs that ODFW submitted

for the Hatchery harvest supplementationprograms;

E. Issue a declaratory judgment that NMFS is in violationof NEPA for failing to

prepare an environmental impact statement or environmental assessment in conjunction with its

decisions to fund and/or authorize the activities or acquisitions by the Hatchery;

F. Issue an order requiring ODFW and NMFS to comply with the ESA and requiring

NMFS to comply with NEPA;
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G. Issue any other appropriate injunctive, mitigating, and/or other reliefasplaintiff

may hereafter request;

H. Retain jurisdiction over this matter until such time as NMFS and the ODFW have

fully complied with the Court's order;

I. Award plaintiffits reasonable costs, litigation expenses, andattorney fees

associated with this litigation pursuant to the ESA, 16U.S.C. § 1540(g)(4), the Equal Access to

JusticeAct, 28 U.S.C. § 2412 et seq., and all other applicable authorities; and,

J. Grant such other further relief as plaintiff may pray for hereafteror the Court

deems just and proper.

DATED this 9th day ofMarch, 2012. Respectfully submitted,

David H. Becker (OSB # 081507)
Law Office of David H. Becker, LLC

Attorney for Plaintiff
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